
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 
 
 

 
 

CIVIL ACTION FILE 
 

No. 1:19-cv-03937-SCJ 

 
 

ORDER 

This matter is before the Court for consideration of the July 30, 2021, Final 

Report and Recommendation (“R&R”) (Doc. No. [85])1 in which the Honorable 

Justin S. Anand, United States Magistrate Judge, recommended that the Court 

grant in part and deny in part Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 

No. [59]). Both Plaintiff and Defendant have each filed their own objections to the 

 
 

1  All citations are to the electronic docket unless otherwise noted, and all page numbers 
are those imprinted by the Court’s docketing software.  

GUATEMION (JUAN) MOSLEY,  
 
     Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PRESTON CYCLES WEST, LLC, doing 
business as Thunder Tower West Harley-
Davidson,  
      
     Defendant. 
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R&R. Doc. Nos. [87]; [88]. Defendant responded to Plaintiff’s objections (Doc. No. 

[89]), and Plaintiff responded to Defendant’s objections (Doc. No. [90]). This 

matter is now ripe for review.  

I. FACTS AND LEGAL STANDARD 

Plaintiff brings the following employment discrimination claims: (1) 

Sexual Harassment Hostile Work Environment in violation of Title VII (“Count 

I”); Retaliation in Violation of Title VII (“Count II”); Race, Color, Ethnicity 

Discrimination in Violation of Title VI and 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (“Count III”); and 

Retaliation in Violation of Title VII and 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (“Count IV”). Doc. No. 

[27]. The Court incorporates by reference the facts and legal standards set forth 

in the R&R. See Doc. No. [85], 2–15. Magistrate Judge Anand recommended that 

this Court grant Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II, 

and IV but deny the Motion as to Count III. Id. at 15–50. 

Before a district court reviews and rules on a report and recommendation, 

the parties may object to the report and recommendation, but objecting parties 

must “specifically identify the portions of the proposed findings and 

recommendation to which objection is made and the specific basis for objection.” 

Macort v. Prem, Inc., 208 F. App’x 781, 783 (11th Cir. 2006) (quoting Heath v. 
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Jones, 863 F.2d 815, 822 (11th Cir. 1989)). The Court need not consider frivolous, 

conclusive, or general objections. Marsden v. Moore, 847 F.2d 1536, 1548 (11th 

Cir. 1988). 

In reviewing the R&R, the Court must “make a de novo determination of 

those portions of the report or specified proposed findings or recommendations 

to which objection is made.” 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b)(3) 

(“The district judge must determine de novo any part of the magistrate judge’s 

disposition that has been properly objected to.”). After conducting this de novo 

review, the Court “may accept, reject, or modify in whole or in part, the findings 

or recommendations made by the magistrate judge.” 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1).  

II. DISCUSSION 

Plaintiff and Defendant both filed objections to the R&R. Doc. Nos. [87]; 

[88]. The Court addresses these objections separately. 

A. Plaintiff’s Objections 

Plaintiff objects to the R&R only insofar as it recommends that this Court 

grant the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count I. See Doc. No. [87], 1–2.2 

 
 

2  Because Plaintiff does not object to the R&R’s recommendation as to Counts II and IV, 
and because the Court finds no clear error in the corresponding portions of the R&R, 
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Plaintiff repeats the sexually suggestive comments and texts that Monique Perry3 

communicated to Plaintiff,4 all of which were described at length in the R&R. Id. 

at 3–4. Plaintiff argues that the Court should modify or reject the R&R’s finding 

that Defendant could not be found vicariously liable for Perry’s conduct. Id. at 6. 

Specifically, Plaintiff contends that the R&R reached this conclusion in part 

because it found that Perry, although a manager, did not oversee Plaintiff and 

thus was not positioned to take tangible employment actions against Plaintiff. 

See id. at 6. Moreover, Plaintiff argues that Defendant knew of Perry’s sexually 

suggestive conduct through Betty Preston—the wife of the dealership’s owner, 

and who represented to others that she was an owner of the dealership—before 

Plaintiff’s January 5, 2018 complaint to Defendant about Perry’s conduct. See id. 

 
 

the Court finds that the R&R is due to be adopted as to Counts II and IV. See Wright v. 
Oubre, 768 F. Supp. 2d 1277, 1279 n.2 (N.D. Ga. 2011) (adopting portions of a report and 
recommendation to which no objection was asserted after the court reviewed and found 
no clear error).  
3  At times relevant to this matter, Perry was a general merchandise manager (or “Motor 
Clothes sales manager”) at Defendant’s motorcycle dealership in Morrow, Georgia. Doc. 
No. [87], 3. 
4  Perry sent Plaintiff sexually suggestive texts starting on December 13, 2017 and ending 
on or around January 5, 2018, when Plaintiff complained to Defendant concerning these 
communications. See Doc. No. [87], 3–4, 8–9. Plaintiff also states that before December 
13, 2017, Perry had engaged in verbal sexual conduct directed at Plaintiff. Id. at 3 n.1.   
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at 6–11. Plaintiff contends that Ms. Preston knew about Perry’s conduct by 

hearing about the conduct from another employee at a lunch. Id. at 3–5. Plaintiff 

does not identify the day on which this lunch occurred, and he otherwise does 

not state when Ms. Preston heard about Perry’s conduct. See id. As for his legal 

argument, Plaintiff contends that there is a genuine issue of material fact 

concerning the promptness of Defendant’s response to Perry’s acts because 

Defendant, through Ms. Preston, allegedly knew about Perry’s conduct before 

Plaintiff’s January 5, 2018 complaint to Defendant. Id. at 7–11.  

In response, Defendant states that although Ms. Preston works at the 

dealership, she “does not hold an ownership interest in [the dealership] and does 

not have supervisory authority over any employees.” Doc. No. [89], 2 n.1. 

Defendant also reiterates that it prohibits harassment or discrimination at work 

and has policies directing employees to report harassment or discrimination that 

they have suffered. Id. at 3. Defendant also argues that the R&R correctly found 

that Defendant cannot be held vicariously liable for Perry’s conduct because she 

did not supervise Plaintiff and was unable to affect the terms or conditions of his 

employment with Defendant. Id. at 9. Further, Defendant contends that the R&R 

correctly found that Defendant was not negligent in responding to Perry’s acts, 
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arguing that (1) Defendant responded promptly and effectively after Plaintiff 

formally reported Perry’s acts and (2) Plaintiff’s arguments as to Ms. Preston’s 

alleged knowledge of Perry’s acts fail because they rely on inadmissible hearsay, 

are too vague, and Defendant nevertheless acted promptly and effectively to 

address Perry’s conduct. Id. at 9–11.   

The R&R’s finding was based primarily on the fifth element of the Title VII 

hostile work environment test: whether there is a basis for holding the employer 

liable for the harassment either directly or indirectly. Doc. No. [85], 17–24.5 As 

stated in the R&R, if the alleged harasser is a supervisor of or is otherwise 

empowered to take tangible employment actions against the plaintiff, then the 

employer may be vicariously liable for the supervisor’s conduct. Vance v. Ball 

State Univ., 570 U.S. 421, 424 (2013). But if the alleged harasser does not have such 

a role, then the employer is liable only if it was negligent in controlling working 

conditions. Id.  

 
 

5  Because the R&R reached its conclusion without determining whether Perry’s conduct 
was severe enough to be actionable, this Court also rests on the findings and conclusion 
below. However, the Court notes that while Perry’s conduct was far from commendable, 
it involved no physical acts and resembles the type of teasing and offhand comments 
that are not sufficient to change the terms and conditions of one’s employment. See 
Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775, 788 (1998). 
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After reviewing the R&R, Plaintiff’s objections, and the underlying record, 

this Court agrees with the R&R’s conclusion. To start, the Court agrees with the 

R&R that Perry was not positioned to take tangible employment actions against 

Plaintiff. Although she was a manager, she oversaw a part of the dealership in 

which Plaintiff did not work, and the record lacks other evidence that Perry had 

the type of oversight or authority over Plaintiff to make Defendant vicariously 

liable for her actions in this context.  

Thus, in order to survive summary judgment, Plaintiff must show that 

there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Defendant was negligent in 

responding to Perry’s conduct. See Miller v. Kenworth of Dothan, Inc., 277 F.3d 

1269, 1278 (11th Cir. 2002) (“Where the perpetrator of the harassment is merely a 

co-employee of the victim, the employer will be held directly liable if it knew or 

should have known of the harassing conduct but failed to take prompt remedial 

action.”). If Defendant had notice of the harassment but took prompt and 

appropriate corrective action, Defendant is not liable for that harassment. Watson 

v. Blue Circle, Inc., 324 F.3d 1252, 1261 (11th Cir. 2003). Appropriate corrective 

action is that which is reasonably likely to prevent the misconduct from 

recurring; in other words, the Court looks to the effectiveness of Defendant’s 
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corrective action. Wilcox v. Corr. Corp. of Am., 892 F.3d 1283, 1288 (11th Cir. 

2018). Determining whether the corrective action was prompt is subject to no 

bright-line rule and is instead determined on a case-by-case basis. Id. (finding 

that an employer acted promptly when it preliminarily acted within days of the 

complaint and then investigated the employee’s complaint more than a month 

later). “[A]n employer need not act instantaneously, but [it] must act in a 

reasonably prompt manner to respond to the employee’s complaint.” Frederick 

v. Sprint/United Mgmt. Co., 246 F.3d 1305, 1314 (11th Cir. 2001). 

Plaintiff argues that Defendant was negligent because it knew of Perry’s 

acts through Ms. Preston. Even assuming Ms. Preston’s knowledge could be 

imputed to Defendant, which is far from certain, Plaintiff’s argument fails. While 

some evidence may show that Ms. Preston was made aware of some aspect of 

Perry’s conduct,6 Plaintiff fails to indicate when Ms. Preston was made aware of 

this information. Failing to provide the date on which Ms. Preston learned of 

Perry’s conduct undermines Plaintiff’s argument that Defendant did not act 

 
 

6  The Court also notes that hearsay issues may render even this evidence—the only 
evidence supporting Plaintiff’s theory about Ms. Preston’s knowledge—inadmissible. 
See Doc. No. [85], 22.  
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promptly. And as the R&R found, the information available indicates that Ms. 

Preston was made aware of this within weeks of Plaintiff’s own report. After 

Plaintiff reported Perry’s conduct himself, Defendant arranged a meeting within 

days of Plaintiff’s complaint—and thus at most within a few weeks of when Ms. 

Preston allegedly learned of Perry’s conduct—to address the situation. Moreover, 

the evidence shows that this meeting helped stop Perry’s inappropriate conduct 

towards Plaintiff. Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to 

Plaintiff, and accounting for the circumstances of this case, the Court cannot find 

that a reasonable jury could determine that Defendant failed to act promptly and 

in a manner that was likely to prevent the misconduct from recurring. Thus, the 

Court finds that Plaintiff’s objections are due to be overruled, and the R&R is due 

to be adopted as to Count I.  

B. Defendant’s Objections 

Defendant objects to the R&R’s recommendation that this Court deny the 

Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count III. Doc. No. [88]. The R&R found 

that Plaintiff had not carried his burden to show racial discrimination under the 

McDonnell-Douglas burden-shifting standard, but the R&R determined that 

Plaintiff had ushered enough supporting evidence to survive summary judgment 
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under a “convincing mosaic of circumstantial evidence” theory. Doc. No. [85], 

41–51. Specifically, the R&R found that the following facts, viewed in the light 

most favorable to Plaintiff, were sufficient to defeat summary judgment as to 

Count III because they would allow a reasonable juror to infer racial animus on 

the part of Jeff Lewis: 

• Plaintiff, who admittedly had prior write-ups at work for tardiness, 
absences, and similar misconduct, did not face termination until Lewis, 
who is white, was hired as the dealership’s General Manager. 
 

• Before Plaintiff was fired, Lewis had referred to Plaintiff as a “homeboy” 
and as “blacker” than other employees at the dealership because he was 
“acting like a street person.”7 

 
• Lewis generally berated Plaintiff for “minor and trivial things.” 

• Lewis criticized Plaintiff for dressing “urban,” which Lewis said made 
Plaintiff look like a customer (there is evidence that the dealership’s 
customer-base is predominately Black). Lewis also criticized another 
employee for dressing too “urban.” 
 

• Lewis stated Plaintiff and a Black sales manager were “shucking and 
jiving” when describing their work around the dealership. 

 
• Lewis once referred to a Black customer as a “credit criminal.” He also 

stated that Black customers were less worthy of credit. 
 

 
 

7  The evidence also shows that Lewis stated that Plaintiff “looked like someone from 
the street because of the loose and baggy clothes that he wore to work.” Doc. No. [69-1] 
¶ 4(b).   
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• Lewis once asked an employee—not Plaintiff—whether a customer was 
white or Black when the employee had sought instruction on how to 
handle a situation regarding the customer.  

 
• After Plaintiff was terminated, Lewis stated to another employee at the 

dealership that Plaintiff was fired because he wore “FUBU-branded” 
clothing, which is a brand of clothing often worn by members of the 
African-American community.  

 
Id. at 11, 47–49. The R&R also determined that a jury could find that Lewis was a 

decision-maker as to Plaintiff’s firing because: (1) he was the dealership’s general 

manager; (2) he oversaw Robert Hammers, the manager who claims to have 

decided to fire Plaintiff; and (3) he was present with Hammers when Hammers 

explained that Plaintiff was being fired because “we” were going in a different 

direction. Id. at 49 n.3. Finally, the R&R found that Defendant’s “[s]hifting and 

inconsistent explanations” for Plaintiff’s termination could be considered as part 

of the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 50.8 

 Defendant objects to this portion of the R&R, arguing that the record 

presents only a limited number of allegedly racist remarks by Lewis. Doc. No. 

 
 

8  Specifically, while Defendant has stated that Hammers and Mr. Preston (the owner of 
the dealership) primarily made the decision to terminate Plaintiff based on his history 
of tardiness and other infractions at work, Hammers told Plaintiff that he had not done 
anything and that the dealership was simply “going in a different direction.” See Doc. 
No. [85], 50. Also, Lewis stated that Plaintiff was terminated due to his clothing. Id.  
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[88], 18. Defendant contends that the R&R erroneously failed to find or consider 

that Lewis was not the decision-maker as to Plaintiff’s termination, arguing that 

it is undisputed that Mr. Preston made the final decision to fire Plaintiff, which 

he made on Hammers’ recommendation, not that of Lewis. Id. at 18–19. Further, 

Defendant argues that Plaintiff has presented no evidence that Hammers’ 

recommendation was based on Plaintiff’s race. Id. at 19. As such, Defendant also 

argues that the record lacks evidence establishing that Lewis’ alleged statements 

were related to Defendant’s decision to terminate Plaintiff. Id. at 18–19. Also, 

Defendant notes that it hired an African American individual to replace Plaintiff, 

which it claims weighs against finding a convincing mosaic of circumstantial 

evidence that Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff. Id. at 20. Moreover, 

Defendant argues that Plaintiff has not shown that its proffered reasons for 

terminating Plaintiff were not pretextual. Id. at 21–25. 

In response, Plaintiff argues that he had received positive work evaluations 

before Lewis was hired, and he contends that he had few recorded disciplinary 

actions against him. See Doc. No. [90], 3–6. Plaintiff argues that these facts create 

inconsistency with Defendant’s claim that Plaintiff was fired because he had an 

uncooperative attitude and a history of work infractions. See id. at 6–7. Further, 
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Plaintiff argues that the record contains much evidence of Lewis showing racial 

animus towards African American employees and customers. Id. at 7–9. Plaintiff 

also argues that there is evidence that could lead a jury to infer that Lewis was 

involved in the decision to fire Plaintiff. Id. at 9–10. Finally, Plaintiff argues that 

the differing reasons for his termination, the fact that he was fired after Lewis 

was hired, and the comments Lewis made all contribute to a mosaic of convincing 

circumstantial evidence that defeats summary judgment. See id. at 10–15. 

The Court agrees with the R&R that Plaintiff did not carry his burden 

under the McDonnell-Douglas burden-shifting standard. However, the Court 

does not agree that Plaintiff has shown a convincing mosaic of circumstantial 

evidence that would allow him to survive summary judgment as to Count III. 

The Eleventh Circuit has stated that for employment race discrimination claims 

such as those asserted in Count III, “[a] triable issue of fact exists if the record, 

viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, presents a convincing mosaic of 

circumstantial evidence that would allow a jury to infer intentional 

discrimination by the decisionmaker.” Smith v. Lockheed-Martin Corp., 644 F.3d 

1321, 1328 (11th Cir. 2011) (citation, quotations, and footnote omitted). A plaintiff 

may show a “convincing mosaic” by evidence that demonstrates, among other 
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things, (1) suspicious timing, ambiguous statements, and other evidence from 

which an inference of discriminatory intent might be drawn, (2) systematically 

better treatment of similarly situated employees, and (3) that the employer’s 

justification is pretextual. Lewis v. City of Union City, Ga., 934 F.3d 1169, 1185 

(11th Cir. 2019).  

Here, Plaintiff points to several remarks from Lewis in an attempt to raise 

an inference that racial animus influenced Plaintiff’s termination. To start, the 

Court agrees with the R&R that some of these statements directly show racial 

animus while others could constitute only indirect evidence of racial animus. Doc. 

No. [85], 47–48. In parsing out whether these comments could collectively be 

construed as influencing Plaintiff’s termination, however, the Court notes that 

several of the remarks were directed not at Plaintiff but instead at customers or 

other employees. While these comments may show that Lewis has generally 

engaged in arguably racist behavior, they do not necessarily relate to the decision 

to fire Plaintiff. As for comments directed at or concerning Plaintiff, the Court 

finds that while at least one directly showed racial animus—referring to Plaintiff 

as “blacker”—most related to Plaintiff’s clothing or otherwise require inference 

to find racial animus, which means they are not direct evidence of racial animus. 
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Further, most of the comments concerning Plaintiff were not related to Plaintiff’s 

firing. The only one related to Plaintiff’s termination—the comment Lewis made 

about FUBU clothing—constitutes only indirect evidence of discrimination 

because it requires an inference to find racial animus. While the Court condemns 

Lewis’ ill-considered language and conduct, the Court finds that Lewis’ 

commentary does not present a convincing mosaic of circumstantial evidence 

that would allow a jury to infer that Plaintiff’s firing was caused by racial animus.    

Additionally, while Plaintiff attempts to show “suspicious timing” in the 

fact that his termination occurred only after Lewis was hired, the Court notes that 

Plaintiff had begun accruing disciplinary infractions before Lewis arrived, and 

Defendant has presented evidence that while Plaintiff was good at selling 

motorcycles, he underperformed in other assignments, experienced attendance 

issues, and maintained a poor attitude concerning non-sales tasks. And while 

Defendant told Plaintiff that they were “going in a different direction,” the Court 

finds that the evidence clearly supports Defendant’s assertion that it fired 

Plaintiff due to his attitude and similar work-related issues. Similarly, the Court 

cannot find that Plaintiff has shown such weaknesses and implausibilities in 

Defendant’s reasons for firing him that the Court cannot lend those reasons any 
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credence; as such, the Court does not find that Defendant’s reasons are pretextual. 

Most importantly, though, the Court finds that Plaintiff has not created an issue 

of material fact as to whether Lewis was involved in or influenced the decision 

to fire Plaintiff. The evidence shows that Hammers and Mr. Preston made that 

decision. The fact that Lewis was present when Hammers told Plaintiff that “we” 

were going in a different direction cannot reasonably be interpreted as anything 

other than the dealership going in a different direction. 9  Thus, while Lewis 

exhibited arguably racist tendencies, the Court finds that there is a critical 

disconnect between Lewis and the decision to fire Plaintiff. That disconnect also 

precludes the Court from employing the “cat’s paw” theory to find that Lewis’ 

arguable racial animus influenced the decision to fire Plaintiff. 

To be sure, the “convincing mosaic” method is in essence a “totality of the 

circumstances” analysis. Banks v. MarketSource, Inc., No. 1:18-CV-02235-WMR, 

2020 WL 6291422, at *7 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 20, 2020) (citing Dukes v. Shelby Cnty. Bd. 

of Educ., 762 F. App’x 1007, 1011–12 (11th Cir. 2019)). But the “totality” of the 

 
 

9  In other words, the Court finds that, given the context of Hammers’ statement, no 
reasonable jury could infer that Hammers used “we” to mean “Lewis and me” or to 
otherwise refer to Lewis in a manner that would imply that Lewis made the decision to 
fire Plaintiff. And while the R&R stated that “one might expect” a person in Lewis’ 
position to be involved in termination decisions, the Court sees no evidence of that.   
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circumstances must encompass all circumstances. That includes mitigating 

circumstances and facts that militate against finding that racial animus caused or 

influenced Plaintiff’s termination. In this case, the Court finds that the totality of 

the circumstances could not allow a reasonable jury to find that Defendant fired 

Plaintiff because he is Black. Thus, the Court finds that Defendant’s objections 

are due to be sustained, and the R&R is due to be rejected as to Count III. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court OVERRULES Plaintiff’s objections 

(Doc. No. [88]) and SUSTAINS Defendant’s objections (Doc. No. [90]) to the R&R. 

Accordingly, the Court ADOPTS in part and REJECTS in part the R&R (Doc. 

No. [85]). The Court: (1) ADOPTS the R&R insofar as it recommends granting 

summary judgment to Defendant as to Counts I, II, and IV; and (2) REJECTS the 

R&R insofar as it recommends that the Court deny summary judgment as to 

Count III. Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Defendants’ Motion for Summary 

Judgment (Doc. No. [59]) as to all of Plaintiff’s claims. Because no further items 

remain outstanding, the Court DIRECTS the Clerk to enter judgment in favor of 

Defendant and to close this case.  
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//\M^ (A ^-^

HONORABLE STEVE^C. JONES
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

18

Case 1:19-cv-03937-SCJ   Document 91   Filed 09/10/21   Page 18 of 18


	ORDER



